
 

      Downtown Investment Authority 

Hybrid Virtual In-Person Meeting  
Wednesday, July 17th, 2024  

2:00 PM 
 

 
 

 

MEMBERS: 
Patrick Krechowski, Esq., Chair 
Jim Citrano 
Carol Worsham 
Sondra Fetner, Esq. 

Micah Heavener 
Melinda Powers, Esq. 
Scott Wohlers

 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER 
 

II. PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 

III. COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY 
A. Form 8B: Voting Conflict Disclosures 
B. June 28th, 2024, Community Redevelopment Agency Meeting Minutes 

Approval 
C. Resolution 2024-07-02 Trio 
D. Resolution 2024-07-03 10 S. Newnan Facade 
E. Resolution 2024-07-04 Duval Demo Budget Transfer 

 
IV. DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY 

A. June 28th, 2024, Downtown Investment Authority Board Meeting Minutes 
Approval  

B. Resolution 2024-07-01 Regions DPRP Final Draw 
 

V. OLD BUSINESS 
 

VI. NEW BUSINESS 
   

VII. CEO INFORMATIONAL BRIEFING 
A. CEO Monthly Update 

 
VIII. CHAIRMAN REPORT 

 

IX. OTHER MATTERS TO BE ADDED AT THE DISCRETION OF THE CHAIR  
 

X. ADJOURN 
 
 

[MEETING LOCATION INFORMATION ON FOLLOWING PAGE] 
 



Downtown Investment Authority March 2024 Board Meeting 
Agenda 

       

 
 

PHYSICAL LOCATION 
Jacksonville Public Library-Main Library/Downtown  
303 North Laura Street 
Multipurpose Room (located in the Conference Center) 
Jacksonville, Florida 32202 

 
VIRTUAL LOCATION 
Interested persons desiring to attend this meeting virtually can do so via Zoom (including by 
computer or telephone) using the following meeting access information: 

 
Join Zoom Meeting 

 https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87990789951?pwd=6D95Mq0jlJ1V4PLG9oxpc7UWGLTOSL.1 
 

Meeting ID: 879 9078 9951 
Passcode: 062932 

 
One tap mobile 
+1 301 715 8592 US (Washington DC) 
+1 312 626 6799 US (Chicago) 

 
Find your local number: https://us02web.zoom.us/u/keJuzyhyuj 

 
 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87990789951?pwd=6D95Mq0jlJ1V4PLG9oxpc7UWGLTOSL.1
https://us02web.zoom.us/u/keJuzyhyuj


TAB III.B 

JUNE 28TH, 2024 COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY MEETING MINUTES 
APPROVAL 



 

PAGE 1 OF 2 

 

Community Redevelopment Agency 

Downtown Investment Authority Hybrid Meeting 

Friday, June 28th, 2024, 9:30 a.m. 

Community Redevelopment Agency Hybrid Meeting 

DRAFT MEETING MINUTES 

 

DIA Board Members: Patrick Krechowski, Esq.; Sondra Fetner, Esq.; Melinda Powers, Esq.; 

Scott Wohlers, Braxton Gillam, Esq.; Carol Worsham  

 

Mayor’s Office: Darnell Smith, Chief of Staff 

 

Council Members: Council Member Matt Carlucci 

 

DIA Staff: Lori Boyer, Chief Executive Officer; Steve Kelley, Director of Downtown Real Estate 

and Development; Guy Parola, Director of Operations; Allan DeVault, Project Manager; Ava Hill, 

Administrative Assistant 

 

Office of General Counsel: John Sawyer, Esq. 

 

I. CALL TO ORDER 

 

The CRA meeting was called to order at 9:38 am by Patrick Krechowski, Acting Board Chair. This 

was followed by introductions. He explained that he was sitting in as Board Chair in the absence 

of Board Chair Jim Citrano. 

 

II. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

 

The following people made in-person public comments, made public comments virtually through 

Zoom, or provided comments that were read into the record by DIA Staff. Note: the subject matter 

of the comment(s) indicated to the right of each person: 

 

Nancy Powell   1848 Challen Avenue  Riverfront Properties 

 

Board Chair Krechowski paused the meeting and asked everyone to stand and recite the pledge of 

allegiance. 

 

III. COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY 

 

A. FORM 8B: VOTING CONFLICT DISCLOSURES 

   

Ava Hill read into record the voting conflict disclosure submitted by Board Chair Citrano 

for Resolution 2024-06-01 RISE Doro. 

 

B. May 15th, 2024, COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY MEETING 

MINUTES APPROVAL 



 

PAGE 2 OF 2 

 

Community Redevelopment Agency 

Downtown Investment Authority Hybrid Meeting 

Friday, June 28th, 2024, 9:30 a.m. 

 

Board Chair Krechowski called for a motion on the meeting minutes as presented. 

 

Motion:  Member Worsham motioned to approve the meeting minutes. 

Second: Member Wohlers seconded the motion. 

 

Vote:  Aye: 6  Nay: 0  Abstain: 0  

 

MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY 6-0-0 

 

 

C. CONSENT AGENDA 

 

Board Chair Krechowski called for a vote on the consent agenda which included 

Resolutions 2024-06-01 through 2024-06-03; 2024-06-07 through 2024-06-10; and 2024-

06-12. 

 

Motion:  Member Gillam motioned to approve the consent agenda. 

Second: Member Worsham seconded the motion. 

 

CEO Boyer pointed out minor scrivener’s errors in Resolutions 2024-06-01 RISE Doro 

and 2024-06-05 Southside FY 24-25 Revised Proposed Budget. 

 

Seeing no discussion, Board Chair Krechowski called for a vote on the consent agenda. 

 

Vote:  Aye: 6  Nay: 0  Abstain: 0  

 

MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY 6-0-0 

 

 

D. RESOLUTION 2024-06-04 NORTHBANK FY 24-25 REVISED PROPOSED 

BUDGET 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY AS THE 

COMMUNITY REDEVELOMENT AGENCY FOR THE COMBINED NORTHBANK 

COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AREA ADOPTING FISCAL YEAR 2024-2025 

BUDGET FOR THE COMBINED DOWNTOWN EAST AND NORTHWEST TAX 

INCREMENT DISTRICT, ATTACHED HERETO AS EXHIBIT A; PROVIDING FOR 

AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

CEO Boyer explained that the resolution was amended to move additional revenue 

currently in the Northbank into unallocated for next year. She pointed out that Exhibit B 

reflects the change showing $3 million in unallocated. 



 

PAGE 3 OF 5 
 

Community Redevelopment Agency 

Downtown Investment Authority Hybrid Meeting 

Friday, June 28th, 2024, 9:30 a.m. 

 

Motion: Member Gillam motioned to approve the resolution.  

Seconded: Member Wohlers seconded the motion. 

 

Seeing no discussion, Board Chair Krechowski called for a vote on the resolution. 

 

Vote:  Aye: 6  Nay: 0  Abstain: 0  

 

MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY 6-0-0 

 

 

E. RESOLUTION 2024-06-13 LAURA STREET TRIO 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY (“DIA”) 

REGARDING THE CURRENT PROPOSALS FOR CITY INCENTIVES TO FACITIATE 

RESTORATION OF THE THREE BUILDINGS COLLECTIVELY REFERRED TO AS 

THE “LAURA TRIO” AND ASSOCIATED NEW CONSTRUCTION MULTIFAMILY 

AND HOTEL;  FINDING THAT FURTHER NEGOTIATION AT THIS TIME IS NOT IN 

THE BEST INTEREST OF THE CITY; RECOMMENDING THAT CITY COUNCIL 

REJECT THE DEVELOPER’S REQUEST FOR INCENTIVES AS PROPOSED; 

AUTHORIZING THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER TO FORWARD THIS 

RESOLUTION TO THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL AND OTHERWISE TAKE ALL 

NECESSARY ACTION IN CONNECTION THEREWITH TO EFFECTUATE THE 

PURPOSES OF THIS RESOLUTION; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  

 

CEO Boyer provided an overview of the resolution with staff’s recommendation to the 

Board not to proceed with the latest redevelopment proposal received from the developer. 

CEO Boyer then shared the timeline of events leading to the resolution, detailing previous 

conversations, direction from City Council, Board Member concerns and the prior April 

2021 proposal.  

 

Steve Kelley provided further detail of the Developer’s proposal, noting, in part, that 

staff’s recommendation to the Board is based on lack of equity by the Developer and the 

financial exposure to the City of providing large up-front capital, which is more fully 

explained in the in the staff report and its executive summary that are made part of the 

record.  

 

Board Chair Krechowski gave the floor to the Developer, Mr. Atkins of the Southeast 

Development Group. 

 

Mr. Atkins thanked Board Chair Krechowski for the opportunity to address the Board and 

then introduced the development team members. He mentioned that the project was 

complicated and expensive with a few challenges. Mr. Atkins mentioned that he had a 



PAGE 4 OF 5 

Community Redevelopment Agency 

Downtown Investment Authority Hybrid Meeting 

Friday, June 28th, 2024, 9:30 a.m. 

few concerns about the inaccuracy of the staff report and shared a few of the higher 

concerns. 

Board Chair Krechowski gave the floor to Councilman Matt Carlucci. 

Council Member Matt Carlucci thanked Board Chair Krechowski for the opportunity to 

speak and expressed his support for staff’s recommendation. He thanked DIA for their 

hard work and the Mayor’s office for their patience.  

Board Chair Krechowski called for a motion on the resolution. 

Motion: Member Wohlers motioned to approve the resolution as presented. 

Seconded: Member Gillam seconded the motion. 

Board Chair Krechowski opened the floor for discussion. 

Board Member Wohlers thanked Mr. Atkins and the development team for being in 

attendance. He then spoke on the fiduciary responsibility of the Board and the risk of City 

and taxpayer money. He concluded that he could not support the redevelopment agreement 

proposal.  

Board Member Gillam stated that he would like to see the project go forward, but the Board 

has a fiduciary responsibility to not support the terms of the redevelopment agreement. 

Board Member Worsham echoed previous comments and expressed that she was 

disappointed with the outcome. She thanked DIA staff for their work. 

Board Member Fetner also echoed previous comments and mentioned that the Trio 

buildings are a critical component of the downtown ecosystem and need to be rehabilitated.  

She added that the proposal presented does not seem like the appropriate way to leverage 

City capital and would support staff’s recommendation. 

Board Member Fetner asked for the status of the 2021 RDA and the implications of keeping 

it going. CEO Boyer responded that the agreement has not been legally terminated and 

mentioned having a discussion with the Office of General Council terminating the 

document. 

Board Member Powers thanked everyone for their work and mentioned that it’s helpful to 

get the full scope of the process. She added that she’s a huge supporter for historical 

preservation but cannot support the proposal presented. 



 

PAGE 5 OF 5 
 

Community Redevelopment Agency 

Downtown Investment Authority Hybrid Meeting 

Friday, June 28th, 2024, 9:30 a.m. 

Board Chair Krechowski thanked CEO Boyer and Mr. Kelley for their time and effort. He 

expressed that she shared the same concerns, that it is a tough decision but that he supports 

the resolution. 

 

Board Chair Krechowski called for a vote on the resolution. 

 

Vote:  Aye: 6  Nay: 0  Abstain: 0  

 

MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY 6-0-0 

 

IV. ADJOURNMENT 

 

Seeing there were no further questions and comments, Board Chair Krechowski adjourned the 

CRA meeting at 10:34 AM. 

 

The written minutes for this meeting are only an overview of what was discussed.  For verbatim 

comments of this meeting, a recording is available upon request.  Please contact Ava Hill at 

avah@coj.net to acquire a recording of the meeting. 

mailto:avah@coj.net


TAB III.C 

RESOLUTION 2024-07-02 TRIO 



 

 

RESOLUTION 2024-07-02 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY (“DIA”) 

DIRECTING ITS CEO TO TAKE ALL NECESSARY ACTIONS TO FORMALLY 

TERMINATE THE DECEMBER 13, 2021 REDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (“RDA”) 

BETWEEN THE CITY OF JACKSONVILLE (“CITY”), DIA AND LAURA TRIO, LLC. 

(“DEVELOPER”) REGARDING RESTORATION OF THE THREE BUILDINGS 

COLLECTIVELY REFERRED TO AS THE “LAURA TRIO” AND ASSOCIATED NEW 

CONSTRUCTION FOR A HOTEL ON THE CORNER OF LAURA AND ADAMS;  

FINDING THAT THE DEVELOPER HAS FAILED TO MEET THE PERFORMANCE 

SCHEDULE UNDER THE RDA, SUBSEQUENTLY CHANGED THE PROJECT DESIGN 

AND SCOPE, AND ON MULTIPLE OCCASIONS PRESENTED REQUESTS TO DIA 

AND THE CITY FOR DIFFERENT INCENTIVE PACKAGES FROM THAT 

APPROVED IN THE AGREEMENT INDICATING THE DEVELOPER’S INABILITY 

TO PERFORM UNDER THE AGREEMENT TERMS; AUTHORIZING THE CHIEF 

EXECUTIVE TO OTHERWISE TAKE ALL NECESSARY ACTION IN CONNECTION 

HEREWITH TO EFFECTUATE THE PURPOSES OF THIS RESOLUTION; 

PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  

 

WHEREAS, Laura Trio, LLC, is the owner of three (3) historic buildings collectively 

referred to as the “Laura Trio” a/k/a “Laura Street Trio” and individually known as the Florida 

National Bank Building, the Bisbee Building and the Florida Life Insurance Building which the 

DIA and City identify as important and beneficial to rehabilitate and return to productive use; and 

 

WHEREAS, DIA has recommended, and the City has approved, several prior 

redevelopment agreements with Developer to facilitate the restoration of these historic buildings, 

the most recent fully executed contract being the RDA attached hereto as Exhibit A and ancillary 

agreements; and 

 

WHEREAS, the DIA finds that the Developer has failed to perform in accordance with 

the Performance Schedule established in the RDA; and 

WHEREAS, the DIA finds that the Developer has materially changed the Project 

contemplated by the RDA relocating the hotel from the corner of Laura and Adams to an additional 

project parcel located on Forsyth Street, adding a multi-family component not included in the 

scope of the RDA; and seeking DDRB conceptual approval of this modified project scope and 

design in January of 2022; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Developer has on multiple occasions subsequent to execution of the RDA 

presented requests to the DIA and the City for different incentive packages from that approved in 

the RDA, one of which was approved by the DIA in Resolution 2023-06-02 and contemplated 

termination of the RDA; and 

 



RESOLUTION 2024-07-02 

PAGE 2 

 

 

WHEREAS, the Developer has on multiple occasions indicated his inability to proceed on 

the new project without additional incentives beyond those contemplated in the RDA; and  

 

WHEREAS, while the administrative function of contract administration, including 

declaration of defaults and mutual terminations, is within the authority of the CEO without DIA 

Board action, the heightened interest in this project and accusations of staff bias warrant Board 

direction on this matter;  

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Downtown Investment Authority: 

 

Section 1. The DIA finds that the recitals set forth above are true and correct and are 

incorporated herein by this reference. 

 

Section 2.  The DIA directs its CEO to take all necessary action, whether by mutual 

agreement or declaration of default, to terminate the previous Redevelopment Agreement dated 

December 13, 2021, between the DIA, the City and Developer together with all ancillary 

agreements.  

Section 3. The Effective Date of this Resolution is the date upon execution of this 

Resolution by the Chair of the DIA Board. 

 

WITNESS:      DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY 

 

 

 

 

______________________            

Patrick Krechowski, Chairman  Date 

 

 

 

 

 

VOTE:  In Favor: ________ Opposed:  _________ Abstained: ______ 

 

 

 

  



RESOLUTION 2024-07-02: EXHIBIT A 

DECEMBER 13, 2021 RDA: DIA AND LAURA TRIO, LLC 









































































































TAB III.D 

RESOLUTION 2024-07-03 10 S. NEWNAN FACADE 



RESOLUTION 2024-07-03 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY 

(“DIA”) ACTING AS THE COMBINED NORTHBANK COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT AGENCY (“GRANTOR”) APPROVING THE AWARD 

OF DIA STOREFRONT FAÇADE GRANT AGREEMENT TO SOUTH OF 

BAY STREET, LLC (“APPLICANT OR GRANTEE”); AUTHORIZING 

THE CEO OF THE DIA TO NEGOTIATE A GRANT AGREEMENT; 

AUTHORIZING THE DIA CEO TO EXECUTE SUCH AGREEMENT; 

AND FINDING THAT THE DEVELOPMENT PLAN IS CONSISTENT 

WITH THE DIA’S BUSINESS INVESTMENT AND DEVELOPMENT 

PLAN (“BID PLAN”) AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

WHEREAS, at their June 18, 2020 meeting the Downtown Investment Authority (“DIA”) 

approved Resolution 2020-06-02 establishing the DIA Storefront Façade Grant Program, to 

provide funding for the improvement of storefronts, and, if applicable, second story façades, in the 

Downtown Jacksonville Historic District to activate the streetscape and the overall revitalization 

of Downtown Jacksonville, with funding provided through the Downtown Northbank CRA 

Redevelopment Trust Fund; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Applicant acquired eligible property located at 10 S. Newnan Street (RE# 

074444-0100) and applied for funding under the DIA Storefront Façade Grant Program to facilitate 

improvements to the exterior of the building; and 

 

WHEREAS, the application was reviewed by the DIA staff, found to be consistent with 

program guidelines and the BID Plan and CRA Plan for Downtown; and 

 

WHEREAS, the DIA Strategic Implementation Committee, at their meeting of July 12, 

2024, voted to recommend approval of the application to the DIA Board; and 

 

WHEREAS, to assist the Grantee in making renovations to the façade of the commercial 

building located at 10 S. Newnan Street (“the Project”) the DIA proposes to provide a Grant in an 

amount not to exceed EIGHTEEN THOUSAND THREE HUNDRED TWO ($18,302.00) to the 

Grantee; and 

 

WHEREAS, the financial assistance to the Project will be in the form of the proposed 

terms and incentives on the Term Sheet, attached as Exhibit A to this Resolution, 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Downtown Investment Authority: 

 



RESOLUTION 2024-07-03 

PAGE 2 OF 6 

 

Section 1. The DIA finds that the recitals set forth above are true and correct and are 

incorporated herein by this reference. 

 

Section 2.  The DIA hereby finds that the Project is supported by the following Goal(s) 

and Strategic Objective(s) of the BID Plan: 

 

• Goal Number 1:  Increase commercial office utilization, occupancy, and job growth to 

reinforce Downtown as the region’s epicenter for business. 

▪ Improve the occupancy rates of existing Downtown commercial office buildings. 

▪ Facilitate restoration and rehabilitation of Downtown’s historic building stock for 

productive commercial office use. 

• Goal Number 4: Increase the vibrancy of Downtown for residents and visitors through arts, 

culture, history, sports, theater, events, parks, and attractions. 

▪ Create and promote a consistent brand for Downtown that conveys a sense of 

excitement and within the boundary of Downtown foster distinct neighborhood 

identities that evoke a unique sense of place. 

• Goal Number 5: Improve the safety, accessibility, and wellness of Downtown Jacksonville 

and cleanliness and maintenance of public spaces for residents, workers, and visitors.  

▪ Support a clean and safe Downtown 24-7, including the work of Downtown Vision 

Inc. 

▪ Enforce proper maintenance of private property. 

▪ Promote safe and equitable access to all Downtown facilities by improving access 

to buildings and other properties, amenities, transit, events, and attractions; by 

eliminating obstacles; and by designing for all ages and abilities. 

 

Section 3. The DIA hereby awards a DIA Storefront Façade Grant to Grantee in an 

amount not to exceed $18,302 from the Combined Northbank TID in accordance with the terms 

of the term sheet attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

 

Section 4. The Chief Executive Officer is hereby authorized to negotiate and execute 

the contracts necessary to document this approval and otherwise take all additional actions 

necessary to effectuate the purposes of this Resolution. 

 

Section 5.  The Effective Date of this Resolution is the date of execution of this 

Resolution by the Chair of the DIA Board. 

 

 

(SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE) 

 

 

 



RESOLUTION 2024-07-03 

PAGE 3 OF 6 

 

 

WITNESS:      DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY 

 

 

 

 

 

 

      

               Witness                                     Patrick Krechowski, Chairman Date 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

VOTE:    In Favor: ________ Opposed:  _________ Abstained: _______ 

 

 

 

 

 



RESOLUTION 2024-07-03 

PAGE 4 OF 6 

 
EXHIBIT A - TERM SHEET  

Resolution 2024-07-03 

 

South of Bay Street, LLC 

10 S Newnan Street 

Façade Grant 

 

Project Name:  10 South Newnan Street 

 

Applicant:    South of Bay Street, LLC 
 Adam Schaffer, Owner 
 Cassidy Moore, Project Manager 
  

Estimated Rehabilitation Budget: $36,604 

Eligible Façade Improvement Costs: $36,604 

Maximum Façade Grant Funding: $ 18,302 

 

Project: Exterior renovations to 10 S Newnan Street in accordance with the application received, 

materially consistent narrative and budget found in FIGURE 1., subject to DIA Board approval.  

DIA Funding: No more than $18,302, through the Downtown Northbank Combined CRA. 

Infrastructure: No City of Jacksonville or CRA infrastructure funding or support is requested. 

Land: No City of Jacksonville or CRA land or building is requested. 

Loans:  No further City of Jacksonville or CRA loans have been requested. 

 

Façade Grant: 

• Maximum funding limited to the lesser of 50% of actual costs incurred on eligible improvements 

as supported by invoices as approved by the DIA, or $36,604. 

• Eligible costs are those outlined in Figure 1 below and are further limited to expenditures made 

on improvements to the exterior walls facing Newnan Street and Independent Drive.  

• The Grant will be funded upon submission of a funding request form following completion of 

the work.  

• Work shall be inspected for compliance with the application as submitted, and all invoices must 

be submitted for satisfactory review and approval by DIA Staff.   

• The Grant approval is contingent upon the following: 

1. Only work on the street-facing storefront(s) as outlined in the application submitted is 

eligible for reimbursement. 



RESOLUTION 2024-07-03 

PAGE 5 OF 6 

 
2. Applicant must be in good standing with the City (no unpaid taxes, Municipal Code 

Compliance outstanding citation on any property of applicant, outstanding defaults on 

any City contract, or previous uncured grant defaults or non-compliance). 

3. The property being improved may not have any outstanding liens or violations. 

4. Applicant must not be engaged in an active lawsuit with or have an unresolved claim from 

or against the City or its agencies that is related to the property from which the grant is 

sought or other similar rehabilitation grants. 

5. Applicant agrees to utilize City-approved JSEBs for renovation work associated with the 

grant where possible. 

6. Must maintain the improvements in good repair. 

7. All improvements must adhere to Downtown Overlay Zone and Downtown District Use 

and Form Regulations, and DDRB approvals, as applicable. 

8. If at any point the space is not occupied, the Applicant shall utilize its best efforts to 

continue to activate the streetscape. This can be accomplished through temporarily 

attaching art to the windows, utilizing the storefront space as an art installation or 

exhibition, or other creative efforts to address street activation. 

 

Performance Schedule: 

1. Façade Grant Agreement or appropriate loan document to be executed not later than six (6) 

months of approval by the DIA Board which will establish the Façade Grant Agreement Effective 

Date. 

2. Commencement of Construction of Façade Improvements: Within three (3) months following the 

Façade Grant Agreement Effective Date, Applicant commits to commencement of construction, 

meaning receipt of all required approvals, permitting, and closing on all required financing to 

allow the start of construction activities and has begun work in earnest.  

3. Substantial Completion: Within twelve (12) months following Commencement of Construction as 

defined above.  

4. The DIA CEO will have authority to extend this Performance Schedule, at the CEO’s sole discretion, 

for up to three (3) cumulative months for good cause shown by the Applicant. Any extensions to 

the Commencement Date shall have the same effect of extending the Substantial Completion 

Date simultaneously. 

 

Conditions:   

This Term Sheet is limited by the following conditions: 

1. Downtown Investment Authority to receive copies of any necessary permits, invoices, cancelled 

checks or documentation from other methods of payment, and other items as may be requested 

by the DIA in its sole discretion as evidence of eligible expenditures; and 

2. Annual reporting required to demonstrate compliance with terms and conditions as approved; 

and 

3. There may be additional terms, conditions, rights, responsibilities, warranties, and obligations for 

both parties which shall be determined in a later negotiated mutually agreeable written contract. 



RESOLUTION 2024-07-03 

PAGE 6 OF 6 

 
FIGURE 1. FAÇADE IMPROVEMENTS 

 
 

 

 



SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION 

RESOLUTION 2024-07-03 10 S NEWNAN FAÇADE STAFF REPORT 



DIA STRATEGIC IMPLEMENTATION COMMITTEE 
STAFF REPORT – FAÇADE GRANT 

 
 
Project Name: 10 S Newnan Street 

Applicant: South of Bay Street, LLC 
 Adam Schaffer, Owner 
 Cassidy Moore, Contact 

 
Project Location: 10 S Newnan Street 
 Jacksonville, Florida 32202 

Estimated Rehabilitation Budget: $36,604 

Eligible Façade Improvement Costs: $36,604 

Maximum Façade Grant Funding: $ 18,302 

 

Project Description: The applicant, South of Bay Street, LLC, owned by Mr. Adam Schaffer, has owned the 
building at the same address since 2016. Mr. Schaffer is also the President of the anchor tenant, 
5ivecannons which is a full-service, creative production and business strategy agency. The property is also 
home to the Boys & Girls Club of Northeast Florida and a downtown office for Sunbelt Rentals.  

The property is located in the Central Core neighborhood across Newnan Street from the Old Duval 
Courthouse Annex site. Also known as the Downtown Duval Building, it is a two-story building built in 1910 
with the most recent renovation to its interior in 2020. It is a contributing structure to the Historic District but 
it is not a Designated Landmark. 

The applicant proposes improvements to the historic façade to include replacing all 
outdated/damaged/missing shutters, re-caulk and repair gaps around brick façade, repaint exterior, and 
replace the 
front door. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Newnan Street 



RESOLUTION 2024-07-01 
PAGE 2 of 4 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 1. – Rehabilitation Budget 

 

The proposed renovations have been reviewed and approved administratively by the Downtown 
Development Review Board. 

Program Considerations: 
In review of this application, it is determined that the property and applicant meet the following 
requirements: 

1. The property was finished in 1910 and meets the program requirement of being a minimum of 25 
years old. 

2. The gross façade of the structure is eligible as a two-story building. The façade is also eligible for the 
“contributing structure boost”. 

Independent Drive 



RESOLUTION 2024-07-01 
PAGE 3 of 4 
 

3. Expenditures related to the façade are eligible for 
reimbursement as detailed further in the Exhibit A Term 
Sheet to Resolution 2024-07-03. 

4. In accordance with Façade Grant Guidelines: 
a. Property taxes are current, and the property has 

contributed to Duval County ad valorem for 
more than five years. 

b. Improvements to the property will be made in 
accordance with all applicable codes and 
permits, as approved by the DDRB Staff. Staff 
can approve this type of project without DDRB 
review and approval per SUBPART H. - 
DOWNTOWN OVERLAY ZONE AND 
DOWNTOWN DISTRICT USE AND FORM 
REGULATIONS, Sec. 656.361.7.1  

c. Applicant is in good standing with the City, the property is not subject to outstanding 
Municipal Code Compliance liens or violations. 

d. The property has not received other COJ or DIA Funding that would be duplicative with this 
project. 

Type 
Total Project 

Costs  Eligible Costs 

Contributing 
Structure 

Boost 

Total Maximum 
funding via 

eligible costs 
calculation 

Facade $36,604 $36,604 N/A 

 

$18,302 

 

Funding eligibility is determined as the lesser of 50% of eligible costs ($36,604 X .50% = $18,302), the square 
footage calculation (not calculated for this project) or the maximum funding limit of $75,000. Accordingly, 
maximum eligibility is determined to be $18,302 for these proposed façade improvements. 

Funding and compliance under the DIA Storefront Façade Grant in the amount of $18,302 are subject to: 

• The Façade Grant Agreement, or appropriate forgivable loan document, is to be executed not later 
than six (6) months from approval by the DIA Board which will establish the Façade Grant Agreement 
Effective Date.  Thereafter, Commencement of Construction of Façade Improvements shall occur 
within three (3) months following the Façade Grant Agreement Effective Date. 

• The Façade Grant Agreement shall allow the DIA CEO to extend the performance schedule for up to 
three (3) months in her sole discretion for good cause shown by Applicant. 

 “Only storefront façades that have 

street frontage on a public street are 

eligible. “Storefront Facade” refers to 

the exterior façade of entire ground 

floor fronting the sidewalk and public 

street. The second story of the 

building may be eligible if the 

architectural details and construction 

materials of the second story are 

most similar to the first story when 

compared to the rest of the building, 

or if the building is only two-stories 

tall.” 



RESOLUTION 2024-07-01 
PAGE 4 of 4 
 

• Disbursement will be made following completion and inspection of the work by DIA Staff, to be 
supported by invoices submitted that document the actual expenditure made to complete the 
project substantially in accordance with the application as submitted. 

• Must maintain the improvements in good repair and make ad valorem tax payments for a minimum 
period of five years from the date of funding. 

• If at any point the space is not occupied, the Property Owner shall utilize its best efforts to continue 
to activate the streetscape. This can be accomplished through temporarily attaching art on the 
windows, utilizing the storefront space as an art installation or exhibition, or other creative efforts to 
address street activation. 

• Other terms and conditions as found in the Ex. A Term Sheet to resolution 2024-07-03. 



TAB III.E 

RESOLUTION 2024-07-04 DUVAL DEMO BUDGET TRANSFER 



 

RESOLUTION 2024-07-04 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY 

(“DIA”) AS THE COMMUNITY REDEVELOMENT AGENCY (“CRA”) 

FOR THE COMBINED NORTHBANK COMMUNITY 

REDEVELOPMENT AREA EFFECTUATING BUDGET TRANSFERS 

FROM THE COMMERCIAL REVITALIZATION PROGRAM TO 

DUVAL STREET STRUCTURE DEMOLITION PROJECT PURSUANT 

TO ITS AUTHORITY TO DO SO WITHOUT FURTHER ACTION BY 

CITY COUNCIL AS ENABLED BY SECTION 106.341, JACKSONVILLE 

CODE OF ORDINANCES; INSTRUCTING ITS CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

OFFICER TO TAKE ALL ACTION NECESSARY TO EFFECTUATE 

THE PURPOSE OF THIS RESOLUTION; PROVIDING FOR AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE. 

  

  

WHEREAS, the Downtown Investment Authority (“DIA”) is the Community 

Redevelopment Agency for the Northbank Community Redevelopment Area pursuant to 

Ordinance 2012-0364; and 

 

 WHEREAS, as the Community Redevelopment Agency, the DIA is responsible for 

developing, approving, and implementing the budget for the Combined Northbank Community 

Redevelopment Area; and 

 

 WHEREAS, Section 106.341, Jacksonville Code of Ordinances authorizes the DIA in its 

capacity as the CRA for the Combined Northbank Community Redevelopment Area to transfer 

Unallocated budget to  activities and projects without further action by City Council; and 

 

 WHEREAS, following a foreclosure by Municipal Code Compliance, the DIA has 

become the party responsible for the three structures at 216, 222 and 228 East Duval Street 

which are in serious disrepair and are a blighting influence and potential danger to the 

community; and 

 

 WHEREAS, after competitively bidding the demolition, the low bid amount is 

approximately $80,000 greater than the DIA Board previously allocated, necessitating a budget 

transfer to increase budget for this project; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Commercial Revitalization Program as budget in excess of what is 

anticipated to be spent the remainder of this fiscal year and likely next, 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Downtown Investment Authority: 

 

Section 1. The DIA finds that the recitals set forth above are true and correct and are 

incorporated herein by this reference. 

 

Section 2. By approval of this Resolution, the DIA in its capacity as the CRA for the 

Combined Northbank Community Redevelopment Area is authorizing the following CRA 

Budget Transfers from Unallocated:  



RESOLUTION 2024-07-04 

PAGE 2 OF 2 

 

From:  Commercial Revitalization Program 

Amount: $80,000 

To:  Demolition Duval Street Structure Demolition  

 

Section 3.  The CEO is authorized and instructed to take all necessary action to 

effectuate the purpose of this Resolution.   

 

Section 4.  DIA directs staff of the DIA to prepare and file a CRA Budget Transfer 

Form as necessary to effectuate the purposes of this Resolution, further granting authority to 

make any non-substantive edits as may be necessary to carry out the purpose of this resolution. 

 

Section 5. This Resolution shall become effective on the date it is signed by the 

Chair of the DIA Board. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

WITNESS:      DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

______________________                      

Patrick Krechowski, Chair    Date 

 

 

 

 

 

 

VOTE:  In Favor: _______ Opposed:  _______ Abstained: ______ 



EXHIBIT A

RESOLUTION 2024-07-04

PAGE 3 OF 4

(if applicable fill out CRA Capital Project Form)   

Description of Expenditure Request:

Date Rec'd. Date Fwd.

Date Rec'd. Date Fwd. Date Rec'd. Date Fwd.

Budget Office and Accounting approval required to verify available funds and for any necessary finance activity / line item changes.

Date Rec'd. Date Fwd.

CRA Budget Transfer Form

City of Jacksonville, Florida

BUDGET OFFICE ACCOUNTING DIVISION

CRA Board Administrator Approval

MID FISCAL YEAR CREATED PROJECT

Applicable Approved CRA Budget Line Item For Expenditure Available Funds in Approved CRA Budget Line Item

$125,000 (PRE BT) $205,000 (POST BT)

Plan Capital Project ( Yes or No)

COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY

Council District (s)

7

SEP 1 2024

Anticipated Expenditure Commencement Date

CRA Board Chair Approval

Budget Officer Approval

07/17/24

Resolution DateCRA Board Resolution Number

R-2024-07-04

CRA BOARD APPROVAL

Comptroller Approval

Expenditure Amount Approved by CRA Board

YES

Downtown Investment Authority - Northbank CRA

Name of Community Redevelopment Agency

SEP 30 2024

Anticipated Expenditure Completion Date

DEMOLITION OF THREE DILAPIDATED STRUCTURES THE CITY ACQUIRED VIS FORECLOSURE AND HAS ALLOCATED TO THE DIA FOR REDEVELOPMENT. POST 

DEMOLITION THE PROPERTIES WILL BE AVAILABLE FOR DISPOSITION AND PUT INTO PRODUCTIVE USE. 

$80,000.00

Total Amount of Expenditure Request



EXHIBIT A

RESOLUTION 2024-07-04

PAGE 4 OF 4

Budget Transfer Line Item Detail

TRANSFER FROM:   (Revenue line items in this area are being appropriated and expense line items are being de-appropriated.)

Total: $160,000.00

Rev  

Exp
Fund Title Activity /  Grant / Project Title Line Item / Account Title Amount Fund Center Account Project * Activity Interfund Future

EXP
DOWNTOWN NORTHBANK CRA 

TRUST

COMMERCIAL REVITALIZATION 

PROGRAM CRA

SUBSIDIES & CONTRIBUTIONS TO 

PRIVATE ORGANIZATIONS
$80,000.00 10801 135115 582001 000000 00001807 00000 0000000

REV
DOWNTOWN NORTHBANK CRA 

TRUST

DUVAL STREET STRUCTURE 

DEMOLITION
PROPERTY TAXES $80,000.00 10801 191021 311010 010896 00000000 00000 0000000

       

       

       

TRANSFER TO:   (Revenue line items in this area are being de-appropriated and expense line items are being appropriated.)

Total: $160,000.00

Rev  

Exp
Fund Title Activity /  Grant / Project Title Line Item / Account Title Amount Fund Center Account Project * Activity Interfund Future

REV
DOWNTOWN NORTHBANK CRA 

TRUST

DOWNTOWN NORTHEAST CRA USD1 

C
PROPERTY TAXES $80,000.00 10801 191021 311010 000000 00001293 00000 0000000

EXP
DOWNTOWN NORTHBANK CRA 

TRUST

DUVAL STREET STRUCTURE 

DEMOLITION
OTHER CONSTRUCTION COSTS $80,000.00 10801 135801 565050 010896 00000000 00000 0000000

       

* This element of the account string is titled project but it houses both projects and grants.

Accounting Codes

Accounting Codes



TAB IV.A 

JUNE 28TH, 2024 DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY MEETING 
MINUTES APPROVAL 



 
 

PAGE 1 OF 4 

 

Downtown Investment Authority 

Downtown Investment Authority Hybrid Meeting 

Friday, June 28th, 2024, 10:35 a.m. 

Downtown Investment Authority Hybrid Meeting 

DRAFT MEETING MINUTES 

 

DIA Board Members: Patrick Krechowski, Esq.; Sondra Fetner, Esq.; Melinda Powers, Esq.; 

Scott Wohlers, Braxton Gillam, Esq.; Carol Worsham  

 

Mayor’s Office: Darnell Smith, Chief of Staff 

 

Council Members: Council Member Matt Carlucci 

 

DIA Staff: Lori Boyer, Chief Executive Officer; Steve Kelley, Director of Downtown Real Estate 

and Development; Guy Parola, Director of Operations; Allan DeVault, Project Manager; Ava Hill, 

Administrative Assistant 

 

Office of General Counsel: John Sawyer, Esq. 

 

I. CALL TO ORDER 

 

Board Chair Krechowski called to order the Downtown Investment Authority Meeting at 

10:34 AM.  

 

II. DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY 

 

A. May 15th, 2024, DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY MEETING 

MINUTES APPROVAL 

 

Board Chair Krechowski called for a vote to approve the meeting minutes. 

 

Motion:  Member Worsham motioned to approve the meeting minutes as 

presented. 

Second:           Member Wohlers seconded the motion. 

 

Board Member Gillam suggested an amendment to verbiage on page 4 0f 4 to read, 

“Member Gillam noted that the consent agenda meant more work for committees and is 

effective with our regular board meetings but creates challenges for the chair while we 

were short board members.” 

 

Vote:  Aye: 6  Nay: 0  Abstain: 0  

 

MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY 6-0-0 

 

 



 
 

PAGE 2 OF 4 

 

Downtown Investment Authority 

Downtown Investment Authority Hybrid Meeting 

Friday, June 28th, 2024, 10:35 a.m. 

C. RESOLUTION 2024-06-11 SIP AND STROLL CONTRIBUTION 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY (“DIA”) 

AUTHORIZING THE AMENDMENT OF THE PREVIOUSLY APPROVED SIP AND 

STROLL AGREEMENT WITH DOWNTOWN VISION INC (“DVI”) IN 

ACCORDANCE WITH EXHIBIT ‘A’ AND PROVIDING FOR A THIRTY-SIX 

THOUSAND DOLLAR ($36,000) CONTRIBUTION TO DVI FOR A NEW SIP AND 

STROLL AGREEMENT FOR EVENTS COMMENCING JANUARY 2025 IN 

ACCORDANCE WITH EXHIBIT ‘B’; AUTHORIZING THESE FUNDS FROM THE 

DIA FISCAL YEAR 2023-2024 ADMINISTRATIVE BUDGET’S EVENT 

CONTRIBUTION FUNDS; INSTRUCTING ITS CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER TO 

TAKE ALL NECESSARY ACTIONS TO EFFECTUATE THE PURPOSE OF THIS 

RESOLUTION; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

CEO Boyer explained that the resolution has 2 actions:  

 

➢ Amend the current year's contract to extend funds 3 months into the fall  

➢ Enter into a separate contract with Downtown Vision, Inc. for the events from 

January through September 

 

Board Chair Krechowski called for a motion on the resolution. 

 

Motion: Member Worsham motioned to approve the resolution.  

Seconded: Member Wohlers seconded the motion. 

 

Board Chair Krechowski opened the floor for discussion. 

 

Member Gillam mentioned that there is funding in the budget to proceed with next year. 

He asked if they’re going to plan for next year, June, July and August with the heat 

potentially still being an issue. CEO Boyer responded that it does not include June, July, 

and August of next year, but it does include Sip and Stroll in April. 

 

Board Chair Krechowski called for a vote on the resolution. 

 

Vote:  Aye: 6  Nay: 0  Abstain: 0  

 

MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY 6-0-0 

 

 

 

 



 
 

PAGE 3 OF 4 

 

Downtown Investment Authority 

Downtown Investment Authority Hybrid Meeting 

Friday, June 28th, 2024, 10:35 a.m. 

RESOLUTION 2024-06-14 CATHEDRAL DISTRICT JAX CONTRIBUTION 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY 

AUTHORIZING A FIFTEEN THOUSAND DOLLAR ($15,000) CONTRIBUTION TO 

CATHEDRAL DISTRICT-JAX FOR INSTALLATION OF GATEWAY MARKERS TO 

BE PAID OUT OF THE DOWNTOWN ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND 

SUBSIDIES AND CONTRIBUTIONS ACTIVITY; AUTHORIZING THE CEO TO 

TAKE ALL ACTIONS NECESSARY TO EFFECTUATE THE PURPOSE OF THIS 

RESOLUTION; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

CEO Boyer explained that Cathedral District Jax received a grant from AARP regarding 

artistic gateway installations that they’d provide at various locations in the Eagle Hill 

District, and they approached DIA for matching funds. She then explained the details of 

the term sheet. 

 

Mrs. Ginny Myrick expressed that they are looking for matching grants. Shen mentioned 

that they’re doing well but can’t do much with $15,000. She added that the first installation 

would be at Adams and Market Street. 

 

Board Chair Krechowski called for a motion on the resolution. 

 

Motion: Member Wohlers motioned to approve the resolution.  

Seconded: Member Gillam seconded the motion. 

 

Seeing no discussion, Board Chair Krechowski called for a vote on the resolution. 

 

Vote:  Aye: 6  Nay: 0  Abstain: 0  

 

MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY 6-0-0 

 

 

III. CEO INFORMATIONAL BRIEFING 

 

A. OLD AND NEW BUSINESS 

 

There was no old and new business. 

 

B. DOWNTOWN PROJECT UPDATE AND CEO REPORT 

 

Using a PowerPoint presentation, CEO Boyer described various project updates and then 

reviewed the following: 

 



 
 

PAGE 4 OF 4 

 

Downtown Investment Authority 

Downtown Investment Authority Hybrid Meeting 

Friday, June 28th, 2024, 10:35 a.m. 

➢ Special Committee on Downtown-meeting takeaways 

➢ Budget- MBRC Meeting Last Week 

➢ Professional Services Contracts 

➢ Capital Projects Update 

➢ Development Updates 

➢ Upcoming Board Workshop on July 8  

➢ Thank you to Mr. Gillam  

 

 

IV. ADJOURNMENT 

 

Seeing no further discussion, Board Chair Krechowski adjourned the DIA meeting at 11:06 

AM. 

 

The written minutes for this meeting are only an overview of what was discussed.  For verbatim 

comments of this meeting, a recording is available upon request.  Please contact Ava Hill at 

avah@coj.net to acquire a recording of the meeting. 

mailto:avah@coj.net


TAB IV.B 

RESOLUTION 2024-07-01 REGIONS DPRP FINAL DRAW 



 

 

RESOLUTION 2024-07-01 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY (“DIA”) 

ACTING AS THE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AGENCY FOR DOWNTOWN 

JACKSONVILLE (“GRANTOR”) APPROVING THE AWARD OF A DPRP LOAN TO 

REGIONS BANK  (“GRANTEE”); AUTHORIZING THE CEO OF THE DIA TO 

NEGOTIATE A LOAN AGREEMENT AND RELATED SECURITY DOCUMENTS; 

AUTHORIZING THE DIA CEO TO EXECUTE SUCH AGREEMENTS; AND FINDING 

THAT THE DEVELOPMENT PLAN IS CONSISTENT WITH THE DIA’S BUSINESS 

INVESTMENT AND DEVELOPMENT PLAN (“BID PLAN”) AND PROVIDING AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

WHEREAS, Regions is the owner of the building and property located at 51 W Bay 

Street, RE# 073663 0000, which has been designated a local historic landmark and is within the 

National Historic District of Downtown; and 

 

WHEREAS, Ordinance 2021-0210-E was enacted by the City of Jacksonville on May 11, 

2021, approving up to $900,000 of funding for Grantee under the DIA Downtown Preservation 

and Revitalization Program (“DPRP”) to be drawn through not more than five stand-alone DPRP 

Loan Requests for expenditures eligible under DPRP guidelines; and  

 

WHEREAS, on June 15, 2021, Grantor and Grantee entered into the Economic 

Development Agreement (“EDA”) providing the contractual terms and conditions under which 

funding from the DPRP approval could be drawn and providing approval authority to the DIA 

Board for stand-along DPRP Loan Requests that comply with DPRP Guidelines; and 

 

WHEREAS, the EDA required amendment and reinstatement which was provided by the 

approval of Ordinance 2023-150-E, following approval by the DIA Board with the approval of 

Resolution 2022-11-08; and 

 

WHEREAS, this Resolution 2024-07-01, is submitted for the approval of the third of three 

maximum requests for approval of construction under the $900,000 DPRP commitment found in 

the EDA; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Strategic Implementation Committee of the Downtown Investment 

Authority (“DIA”) met on July 12, 2024, to consider the term sheet and recommendation of the 

Historic Preservation, Restoration, and Rehabilitation Forgivable Loan in accordance with the 

DPRP Guidelines in accordance with the terms contained in the term sheet attached hereto as 

Exhibit A, 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Downtown Investment Authority: 

 



RESOLUTION 2024-07-01 

PAGE 2 of 7 

 

Section 1. The DIA finds that the recitals set forth above are true and correct and are 

incorporated herein by this reference. 

 

Section 2.  The DIA instructs the Chief Executive Officer of the Downtown Investment 

Authority to take all necessary actions to effectuate the purposes of this Resolution, subject only 

to the prior approval by the City of Jacksonville of the amended and reinstated EDA and execution 

of the amended and reinstated EDA by the Grantor and the Grantee prior to entering into the loan 

documents approved by this Resolution 2024-07-01. 

 

Section 3. The Chief Executive Officer is hereby authorized to execute the contracts 

and documents and otherwise take all necessary action in connection therewith to effectuate the 

purposes of this Resolution, and to provide funding of up to $340,240 pursuant to the Downtown 

Historic Preservation and Revitalization Program guidelines from funds to be appropriated by City 

Council, in accordance with the terms set forth on the term sheet attached hereto as Exhibit A.  

 

Section 4. The Effective Date of this Resolution is the date upon execution of this 

Resolution by the Chair of the DIA Board. 

 

 

WITNESS:      DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY 

 

 

 

 

______________________            

Patrick Krechowski, Chairman  Date 

 

 

 

 

VOTE:  In Favor: ________ Opposed:  _________ Abstained: _______ 

  



RESOLUTION 2024-07-01 

PAGE 3 of 7 

 

Exhibit A: 

 

DOWNTOWN PRESERVATION AND REVITALIZATION PROGRAM 

LOAN REQUEST #3 

TERM SHEET 

 

REGIONS BANK 

51 W Bay Street, Jacksonville, FL 32202 

 

Project: This term sheet provides the terms and conditions of the third advance under the Regions 

Downtown Preservation and Revitalization Program (“DPRP”) as originally approved by 

Ordinance 2021-0210-E and as amended and restated by Ordinance 2023-150-E. 

  

The building being rehabilitated, known as the historic “Old Bisbee Building,” located at 51 W. 

Bay Street, RE# 073663 0000, is a historic two-story building originally constructed in 1909.  

 

Developer/ Applicant / Borrower:  Regions Bank 

 

Total Construction Costs (estimate):  $972,725 

 

City Funding: No more than $340,240 (through the City of Jacksonville Downtown Investment 

Authority), as follows: 

 

 Historic 

Preservation, 

Restoration, and 

Rehabilitation 

Forgivable Loan 

(HPRR) 

Code Compliance 

Forgivable Loan 

(CCR) 

DPRP Deferred 

Principal Loan TOTAL 

TOTAL  $80,340  $217,930 $41,970  $340,240 

 

Approval of the incentive structure and amount under the DPRP is delegated to the DIA Board 

under Ordinance 2021-0210-E, and as amended and restated by Ordinance 2023-150-E and is not 

subject to further approvals by the Jacksonville City Council. 

 

Further, to be eligible for funding, all work must be reviewed and approved by the Planning and 

Development Department for consistency with the United States Secretary of Interior Standards 

and applicable design guidelines during application processing and for verification upon 

completion and request for funding under terms defined further herein. 

 

Budget.  The construction budget reviewed and approved by DIA staff in the total amount of 

SEVEN HUNDRED NINETY-THREE THOUSAND FOUR HUNDRED EIGHTY TWO AND 

NO/100 DOLLARS ($793,482.00) in each of the funding categories (each, a “Funding Category”) 



RESOLUTION 2024-07-01 

PAGE 4 of 7 

 

and in the minimum amounts (each a “Funding Category Minimum”) as set forth in the table 

below: 

 

Funding Category Funding Category Minimum 

Interior Rehabilitation $     267,792 

Interior Restoration $                0 

Exterior $                0 

Code Compliance $     290,580 

General Requirements/Other $     209,839 

N/A1 $       25,271 

Total Budget Amount: $     793,482 

 1 The category “N/A” is not required to be met as a Funding Category 

Minimum for reimbursement of other categories under the DPRP. For 

further clarity, there will be no reimbursement for expenditures categorized 

as “N/A” in the construction budget. 

 

Minimum Expenditures: In order to be eligible for the maximum amount of the DPRP Loans, the 

Borrower must provide evidence and documentation prior to the applicable DPRP Loan closing 

sufficient to demonstrate to the DIA, in its sole but reasonable discretion, the following:  

 

(i) Minimum Eligible Construction Costs incurred of SEVEN HUNDRED SIXTY-EIGHT 

THOUSAND TWO HUNDRED TEN AND NO/100 DOLLARS ($768,210.00), 

calculated as the Total Budget Amount less costs classified as “N/A” (the “Minimum 

Eligible Construction Costs”), and 

(ii) Construction Costs incurred of at least the Funding Category Minimum with respect to 

each Funding Category. 

 

Funding Eligibility: 

Notwithstanding the foregoing,  

1) To be eligible for maximum commitment of $900,000 in forgivable loans under the DPRP, 

Regions shall incur not less than $2,633,000 in Total Development Costs (as defined in the 

DPRP Guidelines) to preserve and rehabilitate the Property (collectively, the 

"Improvements"), it being understood and agreed that the tax assessed value of the Property 

($1,433,000.00) shall be included towards the required Total Development Costs. 

However, minimum funding levels will ultimately be determined by the mix of funding 

components and the related advance rates as outlined in the DPRP Guidelines.  

2) The required Minimum Eligible Construction Costs of $768,210 may be reduced by a 

maximum of ten percent (10%) overall, as approved by the DIA Staff in its sole and 

absolute discretion, without affecting the Borrower’s eligibility for funding under the 

DPRP. 

3) Any Funding Category Minimum may be reduced by a maximum of ten percent (10%) on 

a stand-alone basis, as approved by DIA Staff in its sole and absolute discretion, provided 



RESOLUTION 2024-07-01 

PAGE 5 of 7 

 

that, in such event, there shall be a pro rata reduction in the applicable DPRP Loan(s), as 

required. Eligibility for funding under any Funding Category shall be eliminated if the 

corresponding Funding Category Minimum is reduced by more than ten percent (10%), 

and eligibility for funding under the remaining Funding Categories shall remain in place 

unless it has been determined that material components of the rehabilitation have not been 

met as determined by DIA and HPS staff, in their sole discretion. 

4) Funds shall have been appropriated by City Council to effectuate the purpose of each DPRP 

Loan Request as approved by the DIA Board. 

Infrastructure: No City of Jacksonville infrastructure improvements are contemplated.  

Land: No City of Jacksonville land is committed to the project.  

Loans: This DPRP Loan request is the final of three requests available under the Amended and 

Restated Economic Development Agreement as approved by Ordinance 2023-150-E. Of the total 

$900,000 approved, the remaining commitment totals $0. Funding of any amount approved by the 

DIA Board under this commitment shall require final inspections of the work completed by DIA 

and HPS staff in accordance with the approval, and appropriation of funds by the City Council. 

 

Performance Schedule:  

A. Application for a building permit from the City of Jacksonville must be made within 90 

days of final approval by the DIA Board. 

B. Commencement of Construction for Phase III shall occur not later than 90 days following 

receipt of the City of Jacksonville building permit that is necessary for commencement of 

such construction. 

C. Completion of Construction for Phase III shall occur not later than 365 days after the date 

that the City of Jacksonville issues the building permit for such work.  

 

Additional Commitments: 

A. Recommendation as to the eligibility of the approved scope of work on the Properties by 

the Planning and Development Department shall be required prior to DIA Board approval 

of any program funding. Such recommendation by the Planning and Development 

Department may be conditional on further review and approvals by the State Historic 

Preservation Office (“SHPO”) and/or the National Park Service (“NPS”), as may be 

required. 

B. Upon Substantial Completion and request for funding, all work on the Properties must be 

inspected by the Planning and Development Department or designee for compliance with 

the approved application prior to funding under any DPRP loan component. 

C. Each DPRP loan will be cross-defaulted with one another. 

D. As the Borrower will be utilizing a combination of an HPRR Forgivable Loan and a CCR 

Forgivable Loan,  the maturity of each of these Forgivable Loans will be five (5) years. 



RESOLUTION 2024-07-01 

PAGE 6 of 7 

 

Principal outstanding under each note will be forgiven at the rate of 20% annually on the 

anniversary date of each such funding, so long as no defaults exist per loan documents. 

E. Standard clawback provisions will apply such that: 

a. In the event the Borrower sells, including without limitation a capital lease 

transaction, or otherwise transfers the Historic Building during the first five (5) 

years after the disbursement of the Forgivable Loans, the following amounts of any 

Forgivable Loan shall be due and payable at closing of the Sale: 

i. 100% if the Sale occurs within 12 months after disbursement of the 

Forgivable Loan; 

ii. 80% if the Sale occurs after 12 months but within 24 months of 

disbursement of the Forgivable Loan; 

iii. 60% if the Sale occurs after 24 months but within 36 months of 

disbursement of the Forgivable Loan; 

iv. 40% if the Sale occurs after 36 months but within 48 months of 

disbursement of the Forgivable Loan; or 

v. 20% if the Sale occurs after 48 months but within 60 months of 

disbursement of the Forgivable Loan. 

b. Changes in the proposed intended use of the property must continue to contribute 

towards the relevant Redevelopment Goals and Performance Measures of the DIA 

and shall be presented to the DIA for further approval not less than 90 days in 

advance of such changes, and such approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. In 

the event Borrower or any lessee or assignee of the Borrower uses the Project or 

the Historic Property or Properties for any use not contemplated by this Agreement 

at any time within five years following the disbursement of the Forgivable Loan or 

Loan without such approval, the full amount of the amounts awarded, together with 

all accrued but unpaid interest thereon, may be declared by the DIA to become due 

and payable by the Borrower.  

F. Funding in the amount of the DPRP Deferred Principal Loan component (if any) will have 

a stated maturity date of ten years from the Funding Date. The loan balance is due in full 

upon maturity, sale, or refinancing of the property prior to maturity, subject to terms of the 

disposition and value of the property at the time of such event. 

G. The DPRP Deferred Principal Loan component (if any) requires fixed annual interest 

payments equal to the total principal outstanding multiplied by the prevailing Yield on the 

US Treasury Ten-Year Note established at the time of closing. 

H. Partial Principal reductions on the DPRP Deferred Principal Loan (if any) may be made 

after the fifth anniversary with no prepayment penalty; however, a minimum of 50% of the 

initial loan balance must remain outstanding through the loan maturity date unless the 

Property or Properties are sold or refinanced during that period, subject to DIA approval. 



RESOLUTION 2024-07-01 

PAGE 7 of 7 

 

I. DIA reserves the right to approve any sale, disposition of collateral property, or refinance 

of senior debt prior to the forgiveness or repayment of any DPRP Loan. DIA Staff may 

negotiate terms in the Redevelopment Agreement and/or Loan Documents that allow de 

minimis levels of refinancing that may be undertaken without requiring further approvals. 

J. All Property, business, and income taxes must be current at the time of application and 

maintained in current status throughout the approval process, the term of the 

Redevelopment Agreement, and through the DPRP loan period. 

K. Minimum insurance requirements as established by the City of Jacksonville Risk 

Management Department must be met prior to closing and maintained throughout the term 

of the development agreement. 

L. Payment defaults, bankruptcy filings, or other material defaults during the DPRP loan 

period will trigger the right for the City of Jacksonville to accelerate all amounts funded 

and outstanding under any or all programs at such time, plus a 20% penalty of any amounts 

amortized or prepaid prior to that date. 

 

There will be additional terms, conditions, rights, responsibilities, warranties, and obligations for 

both parties, which shall be determined in a later negotiated mutually agreeable written contract 

(or multiple written contracts as is deemed necessary). 

 

 



SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION 

RESOLUTION 2024-07-01 REGIONS DPRP FINAL DRAW STAFF REPORT



 

1 

 

Regions Bank Building 

Downtown Preservation and Revitalization Program 

Loan Request #3 

 

Staff Report 

July 12, 2024 

 

Applicant: Regions Bank 

Project: Historic “Old Bisbee Building” 

 

Program Request: Downtown Preservation and Revitalization Program (“DPRP”) 

 

Total Construction Costs (estimate):  $972,725 

 

DPRP Recommended: 

Historic Preservation Restoration and Rehabilitation Forgivable Loan (HPRR) $122,310 

Code Compliance Forgivable Loan   217,930 

TOTAL $340,240 

 

Property Description:  
Historic “Old Bisbee Building” 
Regions Bank is a multi-state regional bank 
with $114.4 billion in assets and eleven 
financial centers in Duval County. The Regions 
Bank principal office for Jacksonville is located 
in the historic Old Bisbee Building at 51 W. Bay 
Street, RE# 073663 0000 (the “Property”), at 
the highly traveled intersection of Laura Street 
and Bay Street. The Property was originally 
constructed in 1909 following the Great Fire 
of 1901 and is considered one of the most 
historic properties in downtown Jacksonville 
for its contribution to the resurgence of the 
city following the fire, as well as its 
architecture and continuing structural 
integrity. The Property was recommended for 
local landmark status by the Jacksonville Historic Preservation Committee (“JHPC”) on October 28, 2020.  
 
Project Summary: 

• The DIA Board approved Regions Bank for $900,000 DPRP commitment and a $200,000 Downtown 
Economic Development Grant in Resolution 2021-01-05 in part to help facilitate the sale of a surface 
parking lot adjacent to the company’s Laura Street historic property to VyStar.   

• The DPRP and DEDG awards were subsequently approved by the COJ City Council in Ordinance 2021-
210-E and authorizes the DPRP to approve advance requests that meet DPRP Guidelines without 
further City Council approval.  



 

2 

 

• The parking lot was sold to VyStar as intended, which enabled the construction of the parking garage 
along Forsyth Street to extend the full block from Main Street to Laura Street, and that garage is now 
open and operating. 

• The Economic Development Agreement with Regions was executed on June 15, 2021. 

• Work eligible for funding under the DEDG was completed and fully funded by the DIA in May 2023. 

• The EDA was amended and reinstated in Ordinance 2023-150-E to limit the number of DPRP Loan 
requests to three and required the final request to be submitted prior to June 15, 2024. That request 
was submitted June 11, 2024, within the required timeline. Further, that approval must be 
considered by the DIA Board prior to December 15, 2024, in order to be eligible. 

• Phase one improvements totaled $401,037 and the budget was approved by the DIA Board for DPRP 
funding of $149,760 in Resolution 2023-02-02. 

• Phase two improvements totaled $681,104 and the budget was approved by the DIA Board for DPRP 
funding of $410,000 in Resolution 2023-12-06. 

• This memo seeks approval of phase three DPRP Loan Request in the amount of $340,240 as outlined 
further below. 

• The phase three proposal fulfills the $900,000 DPRP commitment approved by Ordinance 2021-210-
E and amended and reinstated by Ordinance 2023-150-E. 

Request and Structure: 

• The construction budget provided totals $972,725. Costs submitted have been evaluated by DIA and 
HPS staff to be eligible as Interior Rehabilitation (30% funding reimbursement level), Code 
Compliance (75% funding reimbursement level), General Conditions and Overhead (20% funding 
reimbursement level) or N/A (0% funding reimbursement level) totaling $340,240 as outlined in the 
table below.  

• Notably, full funding eligibility as calculated per DPRP guidelines is $417,099 but is limited to 
$390,420 by the remaining availability under the approved commitment. The proportion of 81.6% is 
then applied across each of the DPRP funding categories in determining the final proposed funding 
levels 

  
 

• Phase III rehabilitation focuses on code compliance issues related to rehabilitating the second floor 
of the building to make it eligible for use. These efforts make the long-underutilized space occupiable 
by more than 20 additional employees. Further rehabilitation being undertaken provides 
replacement or reinforcement of roof trusses found to be in substandard condition when roof work 
was being performed by earlier phases.  No exterior work is being performed by the Phase III 
proposal. 

Description  Exterior 

 Interior 

Rehab 

 Code 

Compliance 

 General 

Conditions  N/A 

Sprinkler 20,810$           185,020$         79,640$           14,400$           

Structural 71,425            -                  38,970            3,680              

Interior Renovation 236,050           171,200           138,630           12,900            

Total: -$                328,285$         356,220$         257,240$         30,980$           972,725$       

75% 30% 75% 20% 0%

-                  98,486$           267,165$         51,448$           -$                417,099$       

-                  80,340$           217,930$         41,970$           340,240$       81.6%



 

3 

 

• The forgivable loan approved will be documented as a standalone note with an amortization period 
of five years. 

• DPRP funding would occur upon the completion and inspection of each by DIA and HPS staff to ensure 
completion in accordance with plans submitted and approved by the DIA Board. 

• The following table demonstrates adherence to DPRP Guidelines and approvals as required: 

  
 

• As shown in the table, a DPRP Deferred Principal Loan is not required due to equity contributed 
exceeding 25%. 

• The aggregate ROI inclusive of this request is calculated as 0.76X, exceeding the minimum 
requirement of 0.50X, as follows: 

Total from Const Budget $1,984,688.21

Sources As Calculated

Federal Historic Tax Credit 0.0% Measurement % of TDC Net of Developer Fee Project

HPRR Forgivable Loan 571,280$                                   22.3% Developer Equity 10% Min of TDC 57.1%

CCR Forgivable Loan 328,720$                                   12.8% 3rd Party Loan No min or max 0.0%

DPRP Gap Loan 0.0% Subsidy or Tax Credit No min or max 0.0%

Other COJ Funding 200,000$                                   7.8% Developer Combined 50% Min of TDC 57.1%

1st Position Debt -$                                            0.0% DPRP

Owner Equity 1,466,003$                                57.1% Exterior 75% Max of eliglible costs

TOTAL SOURCES 2,566,003$                                100.0% Restoration Int 75% Max of eliglible costs

Rehabilitation Int 30% Max of eliglible costs

Uses Code Compliance 75% Max of eliglible costs

Purchase Price 1,433,000$                                60.6% Other 30% Max of eliglible costs

A&E Costs 200,000$                                   8.5% HPRR Forgivable Loan 30% Max of TDC 22.3%

Construction Costs 681,104$                                   28.8% CCR Forgivable Loan 30% Max of TDC 12.8%

Developer Fee 0.0% DPRP Def Prin Loan 20% Max of TDC 0.0%

Soft Costs 51,898$                                      2.2% DPRP Def Prin Loan Min Must be ≥ 20% of Gap N/A

TOTAL USES 2,366,003$                                100.0% Other COJ Funding 7.8%

COJ Combined 50% Max of TDC 38.0%
Maximum Funding Level 1,283,001$                                

DPRP Funding 900,000$                                   

Other COJ Funding 200,000$                                   

ROI 0.71

DPRP Guidelines



 

4 

 

 
 

• To be eligible for full funding under the DPRP Commitment, Regions was required to achieve a 
minimum Capital Investment in Renovation Improvements of $1,200,000, and that amount is 
calculated at $1,984,688 through the proposed Phase III budget. 

• Final funding will require verification of completion of the improvements by the DIA and HPS to 
determine they are consistent with plans submitted in the approval. 

$2.6 Million in Total Development Cost (Estimated)

Ad Valorem Taxes Generated

County Operating Millage (1) 779,842$            

Local Option Sales Tax (2) -$                     

Payroll (3) -$                     

Add'l Benefits Provided (4) -$                     

Total City Expected Benefits 779,842$              

Total City Investment (5) 1,100,000$           

Return on Investment Ratio 0.71

(4) - Value of any additional contribution being made for the benefit of the city in consideration of the incentive

Interest on the DPRP Deferred Principal Loan -$                     

Other

Other

Total Add'l Benefits Provided -$                     

(5) - City Incentives as follows:

DPRP 900,000$            

Land -$                     

Other 200,000$            

Total Direct Incentives 1,100,000$        


	Structure Bookmarks



